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Meeting of: Public Protection Licensing Committee  

Date of Meeting: Tuesday, 12 July 2022 

Relevant Scrutiny 
Committee: All Scrutiny Committees 

Report Title:  
Commons Act 2006 - Application to register land as town or village green – 
Land at The Butts, Cowbridge (known as the former Cowbridge Grammar 

School Cricket Field) 

Purpose of Report: 
To consider and determine the application  to register the land  known as the 
former Cowbridge Grammar School Cricket Field, The Butts, Cowbridge as a 

town or village Green 

Report Owner:   Victoria Davidson, Operational Manager, Legal Services  

Responsible Officer:   Jocelyn Ham, Senior Lawyer, Legal Services  

Elected Member and 
Officer Consultation:  

None  

Policy Framework: None 

Executive Summary: 
 

• The Vale of Glamorgan Council is the Commons Registration Authority for its administrative area 
for the purpose of exercising functions under the Commons Act 2006 (“the 2006 Act”).   This 
function is the responsibility of Council and has been delegated to this Committee under the 
Council’s constitution. 

• In December 2014, an application was received by the Registration Authority to register an area 
of land a known as the former Cowbridge Grammar School Cricket Field, The Butts, Cowbridge 
("the Land") as town or village green ("the Application"). 

• The Land is owned by Cowbridge Comprehensive School Trust and in that capacity the Trust 
submitted an objection to the Application.   

• A non-statutory public inquiry was convened for an independent Inspector to consider the 
Application and provide a recommendation to this Committee as to how the Application should 
be determined. 

• The Inspector has recommended that the Application be refused for the reasons set out in his 
Report ("the Inspector's Report") which is annexed to this Report. 
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Recommendation 
1. To accept the conclusions and recommendations in the Inspector’s Report and to  

determine that the Application to register the Land as a town or village green be 
refused because the Applicant has failed to satisfy the statutory tests under section 
15(2) of the 2006 Act 

Reason for Recommendation 
1. In order for the Council as Commons Registration Authority to discharge its duty to 

determine the Application in accordance with the Act and the Commons 
(Registration of Town or Village Greens)(Interim Arrangements)(Wales) Regulations 
2007. 

1. Background 
  

1.1 The Council initially received the Application to register the Land as a town or 
village green on the 14 December, 2014 from Dr. Anne Evans on behalf of the 
Friends of the Grammar School Cricket Field ("the Applicant").  

1.2 A copy of the Application and plan is attached at Appendix ‘A’. 

1.3 The Application was advertised by the Council in its capacity as Commons 
Registration Authority and objected to by the Cowbridge Comprehensive School 
Trust in its capacity as owner of the Land (the Trust is referred to as "the 
Objector" in this report). The core objection was that any qualifying user of the 
Land was inevitably limited and insufficient to satisfy the threshold test under 
section 15(2) of the Act  

1.4 On 3 October, 2017, the Public Protection Licensing Committee considered a 
report concerning the Application and determined that a non-statutory public 
inquiry should be held in order for the Council as Registration Authority to 
discharge its obligation to adopt a fair and transparent procedure and the 
determine the Application in accordance with the relevant legislation. 

1.5 Mr James Marwick a barrister with experience of town and village green 
registration matters ("the Inspector"), was appointed to chair the non-statutory 
public inquiry and to produce a report with conclusions and recommendations 
concerning the Application.  

1.6 The Applicant and the Objector were informed of the non-statutory public 
inquiry. 
 

1.7 The inquiry had originally been intended to commence on 23 March, 2020 but 
this coincided with the onset of the COVID-19 Pandemic and the inquiry was 
adjourned pending further directions. Ultimately the inquiry was re-listed for a 
two-day inquiry on 15 to 16 February, 2022 at Cowbridge Town Hall close to the 
Land (with attendance and participation being hybrid in nature in that it was 
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available by remote means as well as in person). The Inspector undertook an 
accompanied site visit of the Land on 15 February, 2022 before the inquiry was 
formally opened in the afternoon.  

1.8 The full report of the Inspector is attached at Appendix ‘B’. The report sets out 
the law, the evidence heard, conclusions and recommendations. 

1.9 The Inspector's Report has been circulated to the Applicant and Objector. 

1.10 The Council cannot delegate the decision-making process to the Inspector as the 
decision is for the Council who in turn has delegated town or village green 
registration issues to this Committee.  

1.11 It should be emphasised that the Inspector’s recommendations are not binding 
on the Committee, and the Committee must consider the Inspector's Report and 
decide whether it agrees with the Inspector’s conclusions on the key issues. 
However, should the Committee decide not to follow the Inspector’s 
recommendations it would need to provide detailed reasons for not doing so. 

1.12 The Registration Authority is required to either accept or reject the Application 
solely on the facts. Any other issues, including those of desirability or community 
needs, are not legally relevant and cannot be taken into consideration. 
Acceptance means the Land will be registered. Rejection means that no 
registration may take place. Under the current law, land can only have the legal 
status of a town or village green upon registration. 

1.13 Members determining the Application have been provided access to respective 
parties' inquiry bundles including closing submissions of the Objector and 
Applicant. 

1.14 In the Inspector's Report it is made clear that the burden of proof of satisfying 
each element of the statutory criteria rests with the Applicant. 

1.15 The Application seeks the registration of the Land by virtue of the operation of 
section 15(2) of the 2006 Act. Under that provision, land is to be registered as a 
town or village green where: 

1.15.1 a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood 
within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the 
land for a period of at least 20 years; and 

1.15.2 they continue to do so at the time of the application. 

1.16 The Inspector has indicated the following issues to be key in this case: 
 

16.1.1  whether a significant number of local inhabitants have indulged in lawful sports 
and pastimes during the relevant 20-year period; and 

 
16.1.2  whether the Land has been used "by right" that is with permission or "as of 

right".  
 

1.17 It is confirmed in the Inspector's Report that there is no dispute with: 
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1.17.1 the relevant period in this case, the relevant period being 14 December 1994 to 
14 December, 2014; 
 

1.17.2 the locality being the area of land at The Butts, Cowbridge as shown on edged in 
red on the plan.  

 
1.18 In producing the Inspector's Report, the Inspector considered with reference to 

relevant case law and the evidence submitted by both the Applicant and the 
Objector in written and oral form, the use of the Land “as of right” and the 
statutory compatibility of registering the Land as a town or village green. 
 

1.19 Ultimately, the Inspector's Report finds that the Application falls fairly markedly 
short of the relevant threshold and his overall conclusion is set out in paragraph 
107 and states: 
 
"My overall conclusion is the Application must fail because: 
 
(a) a significant number of local inhabitants have not indulged in lawful sports 
and pastimes during the relevant 20-year period and 

 
(b) user has been “by right” i.e. with permission rather than “as of right” 
 

1.20 The Inspector therefore recommends that the Application be dismissed for the 
reasons set out in the Inspector's Report. 

2. Key Issues for Consideration 
2.1 The options available to the Committee are: 

2.1.1 Accept the recommendations in the Inspector's Report and refuse the 
Application; or 

2.1.2 Not accept the Inspector's recommendations and grant the Application in full or 
in part and register the Land as a town or village green. 

3. How do proposals evidence the Five Ways of Working and contribute 
to our Well-being Objectives? 

3.1 The Council as Commons Registration Authority is under a duty to maintain a 
register of town or village greens and to consider any applications to register 
land as town or village green independently. 
 

3.2 It is a matter for this Committee exercising its delegated powers to make 
arrangements for the discharge of the statutory registration functions of the 
Council. 
 

3.3 This is a matter reserved for decision by this Committee under the Council’s 
constitution and subject to the procedure set out in the relevant legislation. 



  

5 
 

 

4. Climate Change and Nature Implications  
4.1 None. 

5. Resources and Legal Considerations 
Financial  

5.1 Registration of a new town or village green is a corporate function and the cost 
of the Inquiry has been met from within the existing Legal Services budget. 

5.2 Members should note that if an interested party challenges the Committee’s 
decision legal costs, which could be significant, may be incurred by the Council. 

 

Employment  

5.3 None. 

 

Legal (Including Equalities) 

5.4 The Application has been made under section 15(2) of the 2006 Act and must be 
considered by the Council in its capacity of Commons Registration Authority 
under the 2006 Act.  

5.5 The Application has previously been processed under the procedure set out in 
the Commons (Registration of Town or Village Green) (Interim Arrangements) 
Wales) (Regulations 2007). 

5.6 The Council in its capacity as the Commons Registration Authority must keep a 
register a town or village green. This is a Council (statutory registration) function 
which has been delegated to this Committee as set out in the Council’s 
constitution and in accordance with Schedule 1, Regulation 33 of the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Functions and Responsibilities) (Wales) 
Regulations 2007. 

5.7 There is no right of appeal against the Council’s decision but interested parties 
could challenge the decision by applying for Judicial Review. A failure to 
determine the application in accordance with the law or at all will leave the 
Council exposed to a Judicial Review or a claim of maladministration by the 
Public Service Ombudsman for Wales. 
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6. Background Papers 
Appendix A – Application 

(i) Application dated 14.12.14 
(ii) OS map showing boundaries of land subject to application 
(iii) OS map showing boundaries of locality 
(iv) Photograph dated 03.12.15 showing path across the land 
(v) Photograph dated 18.1014 showing use made of the land 
(vi) Plan showing location of each statement provider's address  
(vii) Statements on which the applicants rely 
(viii) Timeline showing period covered by each statement.  

Appendix B – Inspector’s Report 
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IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND SITUATE AND KNOWN AS THE 
CRICKET FIELD OF THE FORMER COWBRIDGE GRAMMAR SCHOOL 

 

____________________________ 

REPORT 

____________________________ 

 

Introduction 

1. This Report is in respect of an Application made under section 15(2) of the Commons 

Act 2006 (the “2006 Act”) to register land known as the Cricket Field of the Former 

Cowbridge Grammar School (the “Land”) as a town or village green (the 

“Application”).   

 

2. I was instructed by the Vale of Glamorgan Council in its capacity as the relevant 

Registration Authority (the “Registration Authority”) to hold a non statutory public 

inquiry in relation to the Application and to provide my findings and 

recommendations by way of a written report for consideration by the Registration 

Authority.  

 

3. The Inquiry had originally been intended to commence on 23rd March 2020 with a 

time estimate of three days but this coincided with the onset of the COVID-19 

Pandemic and the Inquiry was adjourned pending further directions.  Ultimately the 

Inquiry was re-listed for a two day Inquiry on 15th to 16th February 2022 at Cowbridge 

Town Hall close to the application site (but with attendance and participation 

available by remote means and thus it was a hybrid Inquiry) following a Pre-Inquiry 

Review on 30th September 2021.  I undertook an accompanied site visit of the Land on 

15th February 2022 before the Inquiry was formally opened in the afternoon.  

 

4. The evidence was completed within the allocated two days but there was insufficient 

time for closing submissions.  It was agreed that interested parties would file written 

closing submissions which were provided in due course following the Inquiry. 
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Documents and Evidence 

5. This Report should be read in conjunction with the bundles of evidence and 

submissions  relied upon by the Applicant and the Objector as well as the closing 

submissions filed on behalf of those supporting the Application and those filed on 

behalf of the Objector.   

 

6. I do not list each document herein but the indexes to the bundles and the subsequent 

closing submissions  should be treated as appended to this Report.  I have had regard 

to all material but it is unnecessary and disproportionate for me to refer to each and 

every document or point of evidence in this Report.   

 

The Application 

7. The Application was made by Dr. Anne Evans on behalf of the Friends of the Grammar 

School Cricket Field on 14th December 2014 by an application in Form 44 verified by a 

statutory declaration.  The Application identified Dr. Evans as the Chairperson of the 

Friends of the grammar School Cricket Field which was  an unincorporated association 

comprising of residents of The Verlands being a residential street adjacent to the Land 

(Dr. Evans being an occupant of 6 The Verlands at all material times).    

 

8. The Application sought registration of the Cowbridge Cricket Field under section 15(2) 

of the 2006 Act on the basis of longstanding requisite user of the Land for lawful 

sports and pastimes by inhabitants of a locality being the Parish of Cowbridge with 

Llanblethian.  The Application was supported by an attached narrative as to the 

history of the Land and by supporting statements and evidence from local residents.  

No issue has been taken with the regularity of the Application.   

 

9. The Application was advertised by the Registration Authority and objected to by the 

Cowbridge Comprehensive School Trust in its capacity as owner of the Land.   The core 

objection was that any qualifying user of the Land was inevitably limited and 

insufficient to satisfy the threshold test under section 15(2) of the  2006 Act where at 

most material times the Land was in active use as a sports field by the Cowbridge 

Grammar School and those it otherwise permitted to use its Land.   
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10. It was not suggested that this was a case where there was a statutory incompatibility 

between registration and the Land’s past use for educational purposes but rather that 

after non-qualifying user was discounted, it was inevitable that remaining qualifying 

user (if any) would be insufficient to warrant registration.    

 

11. The above is not intended as an exhaustive summary of the contents of the 

Application or the Objections raised.  I refer to the respective interested parties as the 

“Applicant” and the “Objector” in this Report.   

 

The Law  

12. I set out the relevant principles of evidence and law at this stage of my report as they 

inform the approach to aspects of procedure and evidence which arose during the 

course of the Inquiry. 

 

13. The Application seeks the registration of the Land by virtue of the operation of section 

15(2) of the 2006 Act.  So far as is relevant section 15(2) provides that land is to be 

registered as a town or village green where:- 

 

“(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any neighbourhood 

within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports and pastimes on the land for 

a period of at least 20 years; and 

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application.” 

 

14. The determination requires the straightforward application of law to the facts.   

 

15. The burden of proving that the Land has become a town or village green lies with the 

Applicant.  The standard of proof is the balance of probabilities.  All the elements 

required to establish that land has become a town or village green must be properly 

and strictly proved by an applicant on the balance of probabilities, per the guidance 

given by Lord Bingham in R v. Sunderland City Council ex parte Beresford [2004] 1 AC 

889:- 

 

"As Pill LJ. Right pointed out in R. v Suffolk County Council ex parte Steed (1996) 75 

P&CR 102, 111, “it is no trivial matter for a landowner to have land, whether in public 

or private ownership, registered as a town green..." 
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"It is accordingly necessary that all ingredients of this definition should be met before 

land is registered, and decision-makers must consider carefully whether the land in 

question has been used by the inhabitants of a locality for indulgence in what are 

properly to be regarded as lawful sports and pastimes and whether the temporal limit 

of 20 years' indulgence or more is met." 

 

16. The constituent elements of the statutory criteria are not defined in the 2006 Act but 

have been the subject of extensive judicial consideration in the authorities.  

 

17. There is no dispute in this case that the relevant twenty year period is that 

immediately preceding the 14th December 2014 (thus December 1994 to December 

2014)  and therefore that is the key period in which qualifying user must be 

established for the purposes of registration. 

 

Lawful Sports and Pastimes 

18. This is a composite expression and it is sufficient for use to be either for a lawful sport 

or lawful pastime: per R. v Oxfordshire County Council ex parte Sunningwell Parish 

Council [2000] 1 AC 335 at 356G onwards. 

 

19. If user for walking is referable to formal or informal paths or straying from such paths, 

the decisive factor is how matters would have appeared to the reasonable landowner: 

R. (Laing Homes Limited) v Buckinghamshire County Council [2003] EWHC 1578.  The 

reasonable landowner is entitled to consider that user of the kind referable to the 

exercise of a public right of way may extend beyond the limits of the right of way but 

still be referable to right of user, support for which can be drawn from Oxford County 

Council v Oxford City Council [2004] Ch 253 at 258.  

 

20. The concept of whether or not user would have appeared to a reasonable landowner 

to be local inhabitants asserting a right to use their recreational activities is a concept 

which falls to be considered in the overall assessment of whether there has been 

significant qualifying user for the purposes of registration: see R. (Steed) v Suffolk CC 

(1996) P & CR 463 and in particular Carnwath J’s observations at page 476 that the 

different elements of the definition “took colour from one another”. 
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Significant Number of the Inhabitants of any Locality, or of any Neighbourhood within a 

Locality.  

21. A “locality” is a division of the County known to the law: MoD v Wiltshire CC [1995] 4 

All ER 931 at 937b onwards.  

 

22. A “significant number” means that the number of people using the land in question is 

sufficient to indicate that their use of the land signifies that it is in general use by the 

local community for informal recreation rather than occasional use by individuals as 

trespassers: R (McAlpine) v Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 (Admin) at 

paragraph 71.  In Leeds Group v Leeds City Council [2011] EWCA Civ 1447 it was 

expressed in terms that there must be use of such an amount and in such a manner as 

would reasonably be regarded as the assertion of a public right.   

 

23. It is for an Applicant to demonstrate “significance” in relation to the chosen locality 

and only qualifying user counts for that purpose.  

 

As of Right 

24. Use of land “as of right” has been held to be use which is without force, without 

secrecy and without permission (user nec vi, nec clam, nec precario): per R (Lewis) v 

Redcar and Cleveland BC [2010] UKSC 11.  What matters is the outward appearance of 

user to the reasonable landowner and not the subjective intention of the user.  User 

will be by force if undertaken in the face of prohibition by the landowner.  Thus signs 

prohibiting access without permission will prevent user from being “as of right”: 

Taylor v Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd and Dorset CC [2012] EWCA Civ 250. 

User which is permitted expressly or by implication is user by permission: per 

Beresford. 

 

Continuous User for 20 Years of the Land 

25. The qualifying user for lawful sports and pastimes must be continuous throughout the 

relevant 20 year period. The land must be clearly identified so that it is clear what 

area of land is subject to the rights established by registration.  It is well established 

that there is no requirement for a piece of land to have characteristics of what might 

be regarded as the traditional village green to be registered: per Oxford County 

Council. 
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Co-existing User 

26. It is well recognised that there can be co-existing user of application land by land-

owner for their own purposes  and local inhabitants for TVG user subject to the 

concept of “give and take”.    

 

27. This issue was considered in Lewis, in the context of examining the meaning and 

application of the notion that recreational user had to be “as of right”. The case 

concerned an area of land which had formed part of a golf course belonging to a 

private golf club. Local inhabitants had used the area of land for informal recreation 

such as walking dogs, without interfering with the golfers. They would wait until play 

had passed or would be waved across by golfers. On an application by a local resident 

to register the area of land as a TVG, it was unanimously held by the Supreme Court 

that registration should go ahead. The local inhabitants had been using the land as of 

right despite what might be regarded as the “deference” they had shown to the 

golfers; the deference shown to golfers was an indication that the users could co-

exist, the proverbial “give and take”.    

 

28. It is right to observe though that the question in any case is to look at the overall 

nature and quality of user.  Gadsden on Commons and Greens (Cousins and Honey) 

(2nd Edition) at 14-20 provides the following commentary:- 

 

“Clearly Lewis suggests that golf can coexist with other recreational pastimes.  Apart 

from where golfers are briefly playing on a particular part of the course, players of 

the game do not actually occupy the land.  There is therefore no problem with 

recreational use of the land by local residents for much of the time.  When, however, 

land is used for games of football or cricket, the position is different.  Such games are 

played in a more concentrated area for concentrated periods and cannot properly be 

played if local residents are trying to use the relevant part of the land at the same 

time.  Where such games are not interrupted by local residents, in practice they will 

have been excluded from the land for significant periods of time and the deference 

shown will be of a different kind to the common courtesy shown to the golfers in 

Lewis.  This means that applications to register such land as a green are likely to fail 

because the use would not be ‘of such amount and in such manner as would 

reasonably be regarded as being the assertion of a public right’, although the parts 

of the land from which the local inhabitants were not excluded could still be 

registered.” 
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Preliminaries 

29. It was determined by the Registration Authority that a non-statutory public inquiry be 

arranged prior to the determination of the Application and, as I have said above, the 

first listing of the Inquiry was marked to commence on 23rd March 2020.   

 

30. There had been some unfortunate delays in the Application progressing to that stage, 

it having been made in late 2014, but the position was then compounded by the onset 

of the COVID-19 Pandemic which has added two more years or so of delay during the 

course of the imposition of wider lockdowns and restrictions.   

 

31. Prior to the Inquiry listed in March 2020, Dr. Evans had indicated that she would not 

wish actively to promote the Application at the Inquiry and whilst she has not sought 

to withdraw the Application she maintained that position for the purposes of the re-

listed Inquiry in February 2022.  Whilst Mr. Huw Llewellyn Morgan participated in part 

of the second day of the Inquiry in support of the interests of the Applicant, ultimately 

there was no active promotion of the Application to the Inquiry and indeed only four 

witnesses spoke on behalf of the Application.   

 

32. Against that background, two lines of arguments were raised by a combination of Mr. 

Llewellyn Morgan and others who spoke in support of the Application (and amplified 

in written closing- in particular by Mr. Llewellyn Morgan, Mr. David Webb and Mr. 

Matthew Coe).   

 

33. First, that enhanced weight should be given to those local inhabitants who had 

provided written evidence in support of the Application but have since passed away.   

 

34. Second, that the Inquiry may not have been sufficiently publicised in the locality not 

least because the main local newspaper was not in print by the time of advertisement 

of the Inquiry, with some local residents said to have been unaware of it until 

contacted during the course of the Inquiry.  
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35. On the first point, the starting point is that it is proper to give greater weight to live 

evidence which has been tested by cross examination.  That is a trite principle of 

evidence.  This was not ultimately an Inquiry in which there was an absence of live 

evidence as to the nature and extent of user at material times. Indeed, as I set out 

below in the main body of this report, in my view, the evidence on behalf of the 

Application and on behalf of the Objection often reconciled in material respects.   

 

36. Thus, whilst there is very good reason why some witnesses did not attend to give 

evidence, my starting point is that I cannot apply enhanced weight to such written 

evidence but rather I must assess whether it supports the oral evidence I have heard 

and then judge what weight I can attach in light of the same.  More generally, I accept 

the force in the Objector’s closing submissions as to how problematic it can be to 

attach significant weight to untested evidence at odds with oral evidence.    

 

37. On the second point, I am satisfied that there was compliance with the statutory 

requirements of the Commons (Registration of Town or Village Greens) (Interim 

Arrangements)(Wales) Regulations 2007 namely by publication of the details of the 

Inquiry in a newspaper circulating in the locality and by site notice and notice at the 

venue of the Inquiry, being Cowbridge Town Hall in the centre of the main street 

through the Town.   

 

38. The Registration Authority further advertised the notice on its website.    

 

39. There is no wider obligation upon the Registration Authority to publicise an Inquiry or 

otherwise to gather in evidence in support of an Application.   

 

40. In my view, the lack of a larger turnout of members of the public to speak in support 

of the Application was at least in part because of the lack of any active promotion of 

the Application; it is active pursuit of an application which typically leads to larger turn 

outs.  I formed the impression at times that those acting in the interests of the 

Applicant expected the Registration Authority to adopt a more onerous consultation 

and advertising obligation than is mandated.  I note that the Pre-Inquiry Review gave 

ample opportunity for any queries to be addressed.    
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41. Attendance was available by remote means and where this has been widely used in 

the Courts and Tribunals system in England & Wales since the onset of the COVID-19 

pandemic, I am satisfied that such access provided a fair means for members of the 

public to attend and participate in the Inquiry to the extent that the COVID-19 

pandemic continued to interrupt normal life in February 2022 (or to the extent that 

members of the public remained clinically vulnerable).  Indeed members of the public 

sought to utilise the link.    

 

42. There is force in the Objector’s submission that the Inquiry was sufficiently well 

publicised to have come to the attention of at least some local residents.    

 

43. It follows that I do not consider that either of the arguments raised is well founded or 

otherwise materially impacts the approach which I ought to take in setting out my 

findings and recommendations for the Registration Authority.    

 

44. For the avoidance of doubt, I am satisfied that this was a procedurally fair Inquiry with 

reasonable opportunity afforded for interested parties to engage with it.   

 

45. I make clear at the outset of this Report that the Inquiry was not concerned with the 

merits or otherwise of any future development of the Land but rather whether the 

statutory test for registration under section 15(2) of the 2006 Act is satisfied.   

 

46. At the Inquiry, Ms. Morag Ellis QC appeared for the Objector.  I am grateful for her 

assistance and to that of Mr. Llewellyn Morgan and Mr. Webb on behalf of the 

Applicant. 

 

 

The Land 

47. The Land is the site of the former cricket field of what was initially the Cowbridge 

Grammar School and then later (from around 1973-1974), the Cowbridge 

Comprehensive School (and I will simply refer to the “School” hereinafter in this 

Report).     
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48. The Land occupies a central position in Cowbridge close to the High Street.  It is 

immediately adjacent to a larger field known as the Police Fields at its North/West 

corner.  The Land is bordered on its South/West and South/East sides by the rear of 

residential properties on The Verlands and Town Mill Road (with physical 

fencing/walls separating the Land from the rear of those properties and their 

gardens).   

 

49. The northern boundary is more open and in most parts is walled off from the adjacent 

land.  A road named The Butts adjoins the Land for part of the boundary and as the 

road diverts at a right angle towards the High Street, a right of way continues along 

the northern boundary towards the Police Fields.   

 

50. I was able to observe the Land during my accompanied site visit.  There are open 

access points and I understood that the main school access would have been from 

entry points in the stone wall stiles  off The Butts.   

 

51. I did not understand the basic topography of the Land to have altered at material 

times but rather that the maintenance regime was unsurprisingly altered upon the 

field no longer being in use for education purposes from about 2011.   

 

52. The Land is identified on a plan attached to the Application.  There were no issues 

with its boundaries and there were numerous overhead photos in the bundles (and I 

understood there to be no real issue as to the fact that the overhead photos exhibited 

to the Objector’s evidence showed the layout of the Land at material times which 

included the formal laying out of various sports pitches during the course of the 

school year as evidenced by a succession of overhead shots).   

 

The Evidence 

53. I heard evidence at the Inquiry both in support of the Application and evidence 

presented on behalf of the Objector.  I also gave the opportunity to others present at 

the Inquiry to give any further evidence whether for or against the Application.  The 

evidence was not taken on oath.  I am quite satisfied that those who gave evidence to 

the Inquiry did so in an open, honest and straightforward matter.   
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54. The human memory is not infallible (see Gestmin SGPS SA v Credit Suisse (UK) Limited 

[2013] EWHC 3560 (Comm) for the well-known judicial exposition of the unreliability 

of the human memory in the context of giving evidence) and there were occasional 

instances of mistaken or unclear memories (usually corrected or accepted as a 

mistake or otherwise quite explicable by the passage of time) and inconsistencies but I 

am satisfied that each witness endeavoured to assist the Inquiry to the best of their 

individual recollection in most instances.   

 

55. I repeat again that the burden of proof is on the Applicant to prove the constituent 

elements of the statutory test under section 15(2) of the 2006 Act.   

 

56. It is common ground that for between 1994 and 2011 (and thus for most of the 

relevant 20 year period of use from December 1994 to December 2014), the Land 

formed an integral part of a working school and was indeed in regular use by the 

School at the very least during usual school hours throughout the school year.  It is 

always critical in such cases to consider whether there is a viable evidential 

foundation for a finding that the Land was unambiguously in more general community 

use for open lawful sports and pastimes.   

 

57. The oral evidence in support of the Application came from a small but representative 

number of local residents.  Dr. Evans herself declined to speak in support of the 

Application.  That was entirely her choice. But there was evidence from a number of 

witnesses including Mr. David Webb, Mrs. Julia Evans, Mr. Matthew Coe and Mr. Jon 

Brazier.  The evidence was interpolated with that on behalf of the Objector and to 

allow completion of the evidence within the two days allocated for the Inquiry.  I am 

grateful to the Objector for not objecting to that course.  

 

58. In the absence of any formal representation on behalf of the Applicant, I generally 

assisted the witnesses in adducing their evidence in chief, including by reference to 

any written statements, prior to cross examination by Ms. Ellis.  I was satisfied that 

there was therefore fair opportunity for each witness to give evidence in chief 

unconstrained by the nature of questions which can be put in cross examination.   
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59. Mr. Webb had provided an initial statement dated 16th December 2014.  His address is 

Picton House on Church Road in Llanblethian close to the St John The Baptist Church 

on the outskirts of the wider Cowbridge built up area.  His written evidence spoke to 

Mr. Webb being a cricket enthusiast and having used the Land as a venue for cricket 

matches (including as captain of the Princess of Wales Hospital team at times from the 

late 1980s onwards).  It also spoke to more general informal user by both Mr. Webb 

and others, including local residents for socialising and BBQs, as well as sports teams 

for more formal sporting matches.   

 

60. He amplified upon his written account as the first witness to give evidence to the 

Inquiry.  He was an articulate and careful witness.  He had lived at his address at all 

material times.  He had played for Cowbridge Cricket Club from sometime between 

1985 and 1990 onwards.  He had become captain of the 3rd XI.  He did not understand 

that permission had ever been sought from the School.  He had also arranged for 

matches to be played at the ground for the Princess of Wales Hospital team.   There 

were also mid-week games including with pub teams, school teams and other local 

teams from outside the locality (more often than not in a 20-20 style format, a long 

adopted format in local cricket before the commercial deployment in the professional 

game).  

 

61. He had thought- in keeping with others- that a public right of way ran across the Land  

as part of a route into and from Cowbridge High Street through the stile access on the 

Butts.   Some of his experience of the venue was via his son who was born in the early 

1980s and had come to play for Cowbridge Cricket Club juniors by 1994.   

 

62. He was cross examined at some length by Ms. Ellis.  It was entirely understandable 

that he did not have a precise recall of certain times and periods of his former 

cricketing career or indeed whether fellow players came from the local area or further 

afield.  I suspect Mr. Webb never imagined he would be asked to recall such details 

many years after the event.  I found him a reliable and credible witness.   

 

63. My clear impression from Mr. Webb’s evidence was of user of the Land for more 

formal organised games by local sports teams as the main adjunct to the user of the 

Land by the School as its cricket field and for other sports.   
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64. In a short closing statement, Mr. Webb pressed upon me that he had no knowledge of 

any grant of permission by the School for the Land to be used by the cricket club.  The 

Objector’s witnesses spoke to there being such permissions.  My ultimate view is that 

the user of the Land for more formal games was inherently more likely to have 

resulted from a permissive approach to the scheduling of games by the School rather 

than an ad hoc “as of right” entitlement but I address this further later in this Report.   

 

65. Mrs. Julia Evans also attended to give evidence to the Inquiry.  She is a retired 

podiatrist who had moved into Cowbridge in 2011 (to live on The Limes) having 

worked in the town up until 2005 when she retired.  She had habitually exercised dogs 

between 1994 and 2005 during the working day or sometimes at weekends.  I found 

her to be an entirely straightforward witness.  Her evidence was that she generally 

followed a worn perimeter route.  She would encounter other dog walkers and 

walkers but she was candid in her evidence in cross-examination that she could not 

speak to whether they were local inhabitants and my impression is that she regarded 

most as using well-worn paths including as  a cut through to and from the town 

centre.   

 

66. There was awareness of the user of the Land for formal sports, including primarily 

school activities, but again it was not my sense from the Mrs. Evans that the observed 

user of the Land reflected wider community user of the Land much beyond walking 

and dog walking (which she largely ascribed to certain well worn tracks).   

 

67. Mr. Matthew Coe gave evidence on the second day on the Inquiry remotely.  He was 

an impressive witness.  He had and his family had provided written statements in 

support of the Application (including an initial statement dated 18th November 2014) 

having moved to Cowbridge in about 1999 and to The Verlands in about 2003.  Prior 

to giving evidence on the second day, he had also provided some further written 

representations and evidence in a word document forwarded overnight after the first 

day of the Inquiry.  This included reference to the absence of signs until later in time; 

ultimately this was not a point of evidential relevance which was pressed  by the 

Objector.   
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68. Mr. Coe amplified on his written evidence in which he had set out his family’s own 

user of the Land for recreational activity but also wider user of the Land  by local 

inhabitants including for general recreation but also by the various sports club 

(including the local football, rugby and cricket clubs- particularly youth sections) as 

well as more general footpath and thoroughfare user between the town centre and 

the nearby residential areas including The Verlands.  He was cross examined robustly 

but fairly by Ms. Ellis on some examples of the family user of the Land including such 

as learning to ride bicycles and kite flying.  As I have commented above in relation to 

Dr. Webb,  It was unsurprising that Mr. Coe did not have a forensic recollection of 

periods of teaching any of his 3 young children to ride a bike or of precise timings of 

kite flying and the like.  He gave examples of snowball flights and other similar family 

activities on the Land. 

 

69. Mr. Coe made fair concessions such as the fact that some of his family activities 

(including picnicking) would have been ancillary to organised sports events  on the 

Land and that dog walkers and walkers as well as generally using the Land as a 

throughfare would also respect the presence of sports games and school activities on 

the Land.  Mr. Coe’s children had played for the local sports teams and some of their 

user of the Land was wrapped up in their membership of such clubs.  

 

70. In considering what further user of the Land there had been for general recreational 

activities Mr. Coe did volunteer examples including user by a local Nordic walking club 

and by teenagers for recreational drinking.   I have to say that again my impression 

was not of significant community user of the Land as if it was open parkland for the 

local inhabitants but rather of a more trivial nature.   

 

71. Of course, Mr. Coe was a resident of one of the streets immediately bordering the 

Land for a large chunk of the 20 year period in question, with a young family.   It could 

be said that his evidence would be expected to be a high water mark of user of the 

Land compared to others in the wider locality who were not on its proverbial 

doorstep.  I have borne this in mind in considering the wider written evidence in my 

ultimate conclusions. 
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72. There was also evidence from Mr. Jon Brazier who had lived at 21 The Verlands from 

1992 onwards and who at certain times during the relevant 20 year period had 

captained the Cowbridge 3rd XI.  He did not believe there to have been 3rd team 

matches beyond the early 2000s.  He spoke of organised sport on the Land as well as 

more informal matches such as those played by teachers from the School.  He was a 

credible witness.  I considered his evidence was generally consistent with that of Mr. 

Webb and indeed the other witnesses. 

 

73. There were 26 written statements submitted with the Application in 2014 plus 16 

further statement submitted in 2016 and then a further two statements submitted in 

2017.  The tenor of the statements (which are generally short written statements 

rather than in questionnaire form) is to set out a number of core recognised users of 

the Land at material times:- 

A) User by the School and for other organised sports particularly by the triumvirate 

of the local football, cricket and rugby clubs. 

B) User of the Land for dog walking and as a thoroughfare (in the manner explained 

by some of the witnesses who gave oral evidence) 

C) More generally recreational user such as kicking a football but outside of school 

time. 

 

74. I do not traverse each statement but have had full regard to the statements as I 

address later in this Report.   

 

75. The Objector’s witnesses had provided evidence in written form by statutory 

declaration including from Hugh Williams, Glanmor Williams, Michael Walsh, Sarah 

Smith, Graham John Griffiths and Neil Thomas.  Evidence was tested in part by Mr. 

Llewellyn Morgan who attended part way through the second day and I permitted him 

to take an active role on behalf of the Applicant.  I also had questions for those 

witnesses called by the Objector. I emphasis again that the burden of proof is not on 

the Objector but rather at all times on the Applicant.  

 

76. I do not intend to exhaustively summarise the Objector’s evidence because ultimately 

I do not consider there were any material irreconcilable conflicts of fact between their 

evidence and that adduced on behalf of the Applicant.    
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77. The most striking example of this was the evidence of Graham John Griffiths.  Mr. 

Griffiths ostensibly gave evidence on behalf of the Objector but he struck me as an 

independent witness who had no investment in the “Objection” speaking primarily in 

the context of his role at the rugby club at material times and seemingly unaware of 

the wider threshold test for registration. 

 

78.  Mr. Griffiths in fact had lived on The Verlands at material times and it was plain to me 

that his evidence was that whilst there may have been some general, more sporadic, 

public user of the Land, it was regarded very much as the School’s field and he would 

have expected to have sought permission from the School for anything but the more 

fleeting use of it.    I found this evidence particularly compelling in the circumstances. 

It had added traction in the context of evidence from those such as Hugh Williams as 

to the warning off of golfers from the Land at certain times as well as the evidence 

that often the School would be using the Land from 08.30am to 17.30pm or later.    

 

79. More generally, I have had due regard to the statutory declarations and exhibits filed 

on behalf of the Objector both at the time of its initial objection and thereafter. I 

summarise the key evidential points as follows:- 

 

79.1 The Land had been in regular and extensive use by the School from 1994 to 2011 

for general sport and physical education.  I find that this was entirely consistent 

with the evidence adduced on behalf of the Applicant and there was no serious 

attempt to minimise the School’s user in oral evidence by the Applicant.    I 

accept the evidence given in the statutory declarations and oral evidence 

including that in particular of Hugh Williams, Glanmor Williams, Michael Walsh 

and Graham John Griffiths which covered between them- with considerable 

overlap- the entirety of 1994 to 2011 in roles as Heads of PE, teachers and on the 

part of the local rugby club. I also note this was consistent with the statutory 

declarations of Gwyn James, Colin Lewis, and Gareth Scourfield (which 

encompassed knowledge of the Land from 1970 to 2007). 
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79.2 The user of the Land for sports and physical education was supplemented by its 

user by the School at times for wider curricular and extracurricular activities.  

Examples of this included “Activities Week” (involving up to 200 children) and 

map reading lessons as amplified upon by Michael Walsh in his statutory 

declaration and oral evidence, as well as informal pupil recreation (and witnesses 

such as Sarah Smith spoke to this).   

 

79.3 The witnesses were consistent in oral evidence that the core user by the School 

would mean that during the extended School day that any user of the Land by 

third parties would generally be restricted to perimeter or edge walkers.  Such 

evidence was consistent with that I heard on behalf of the Applicant. 

 

79.4 Express permission had been granted to the various sports clubs and teams that 

used the Land outside of School hours or during the summer holidays.  

a) This was the two way evidence from Hugh Williams in his role as Head of PE 

at the School and Graham John Griffiths on behalf of the rugby club as 

regards user by the junior section of the rugby club for weekend training and 

matches.  Mr. Griffiths was particularly clear that the user of the Land by the 

rugby clear was permissive; wet weather was given as an example of when 

the School might take priority and consent for user would be refused.  The 

evidence was thus that from no later than 2000 any user was permissive. 

b) This was the evidence of Hugh Williams and Glanmor Williams as regards 

user by cricket teams, including the Cowbridge 3rd XI team and the Edmondes 

Arms Public House Team together with user by the Cowbridge Junior Football 

Team (from about 2005) and some more limited user by Cowbridge Athletics 

Club: per statutory declaration and oral evidence of Messrs Williams whereby 

verbal agreement would generally be struck with such sports teams.  I 

consider that the closing submissions of the Objector at paragraphs 3.3 to 3.6 

are an accurate summary of the evidence in this respect and the evidence of 

Hugh Williams is that some arrangements dated from as early as the 1970s. 

c) It is important to note that the witness evidence on the part of the Objector 

is corroborated by the contemporaneous correspondence from in and 

around 2011 when the various sports clubs sought to position themselves for 

potential further user of the Land upon the closure of the School:- 
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i. In a series of emails dating from October 2010, July 2011 and January 

2012, the Cowbridge Cricket Club sought to seek if some form of 

lease or similar arrangement could be entered into to permit 

continued user of the Land by the cricket club.   

ii. The Cowbridge Athletic Football Club wrote to the School in July 2011 

reaching out to see if the football club could likewise secure use of 

the Land for the coming season where the historic “gentleman’s 

agreement” had been cited in earlier correspondence. 

iii. Cowbridge Rugby Club likewise offered to lease the Land in August 

2011 and Mr. Griffiths settled on an agreement with the Trustees in 

2014 to permit continued user for the rugby club under the older 

arrangements.   

d) I agree with the Objector when it is said that the significance of these 

exchanges is the recognition by all three clubs that there was no right to 

continue using the Land and formal arrangements would need to be entered 

into.  

e) There is no conflict here with the evidence of Mr. Webb or others who were 

unaware of the fact that user was permissive; the fact that such users were 

unaware of such arrangements does not undermine the fact that such 

arrangements were in place and ultimately the strongest evidence is that of 

the response by each of the sports clubs when the closure of the School 

arose.    

f) As I have observed earlier in this Report, I consider it more inherently likely 

than not that third party sports teams would have sought consent to use 

what was widely known to the School’s field for matches and there was no 

suggestion that Hugh Williams or Glanmor Williams were somehow mistaken 

in their recollection. 

 

79.5 From 2011 there was much reduced user of the Land for formal sports albeit 

some activities appeared to continue.  Witnesses such as Graham John Griffiths 

volunteered that activities such as dog walking and walking had been more 

prevalent in recent years. 
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80. It is right for me to note that the Objector’s key witnesses attended the Inquiry in 

order to meet the relevant evidential case raised on the face of the Application and to 

have their evidence tested.   The Objector’s evidential case was therefore available to 

be tested in its key respects at the Inquiry.   

 

Analysis 

The Land 

81. The Land is that identified on the plan in support of the Application and referred to as 

the Land in this Report.    

 

20 Year Period 

82. As set out above, the relevant period is 14th December 1994 to 14th December 2014.    

 

Locality 

83. The Applicant relies upon the locality of the Parish of “Cowbridge with Llanblethian”. 

 

84. The Objector accepts that that the area is one capable of constituting a locality for the 

purposes of registration. 

 

85. The Objector highlights that the 2011 Census confirmed that the Parish had a 

population of 4063 with a total of 1,899 households.  I understand this data not to be 

challenged and indeed it is cited elsewhere by those supporting the Application.   

 

86. I bear the size of the locality in mind in considering the sufficiency of user.   

 

Qualifying User: was user sufficient to bring home to the reasonable landowner that TVG 

rights were being asserted 

87. My findings in this respect should be read in conjunction with my summary of the 

witness evidence set out above.   

 

88. There was limited oral evidence provided by witnesses in support of the Application.  

This was an immediate difficulty for the Applicant in seeking to establish registration 

by reference to a large locality.  
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89. There was intensive user of the Land by the School between 1994 and 2011 during the 

School Week (including Saturdays) and throughout the School Year which effectively 

excluded public user from all but perimeter/edge walking or occasional straying across 

the Land at such times.  I have accepted the Objector’s evidence in this respect but it 

was supported by that for the Applicant.   

 

90. The Land was in use by the School  for long continuous periods for 5 to 6 days each 

week during the school year.  This was effectively over 9 months of the year for 17 out 

of the 20 years and I so find.   

 

91.  There was not a situation of “give and take”.  The public were not deferring out of 

common courtesy but rather recognising that this was a school playing field in 

concentrated use by the School.  I find this consistent with among others the evidence 

of Graham John Griffiths, Matthew Coe and Julia Evans; the public would stay off the 

Land during School user.    I reject the suggestion that the position was one of 

appropriate social deference to fellow users of the Land; it was far from it. The 

situation was far closer to on all fours with the commentary in Gadsden at 14-020 

(cited above), if not the paradigm example of land-owner user which cannot be 

reconciled with  “give and take”.  I reject the Applicant’s submission to the contrary.   

 

92. The starting point therefore is that the extent of School user over the Land is a 

formidable hurdle for the Applicant in seeking to show there was sufficient user 

referable to the assertion of a public right.  This is because of the long periods of 

effective exclusion and interruption from the Land during the School year.  

 

93. I consider this against what claimed user there is of the Land by inhabitants of the 

locality:- 

 

93.1 It was not suggested by any of the witnesses for the Applicant that there was any 

significant user beyond perimeter/edge walking during the times the Land was in 

use by the School.   
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93.2 The oral evidence of general informal recreational user (as distinct from 

walking/dog walking and team sports which I consider below) during the relevant 

20 year period was relatively limited:- 

 

a) The main focus of Mr. Webb’s evidence was cricket team user.  His written 

statement had referred to informal recreational user but I ultimately 

understood that his own such user was largely referable to playing with his 

son and it seems likely that such user was outwith the 20 year period. 

b) Mr. Brazier’s evidence was similarly in terms of cricket team user for more 

formal sports.   

c) Ms. Evans mainly spoke to walking with and without dogs on the perimeters 

of the Land or well worn paths and that she would observe others doing the 

same. 

d) Mr. Coe gave stronger evidence as to general recreational user including user 

with his young family over the years but as I have already said I did not form 

the impression of particularly widespread community user; the fact that Mr. 

Coe alighted on the Nordic walk club and recreational drinkers as examples of 

activities on the Land suggested to me that more general informal 

recreational user was limited.   

e) The evidence of Graham John Griffiths was consistent with an absence of 

anything other than relatively trivial recreational user beyond walking and 

dog walking (as mirrored by others speaking on behalf of the Objector but I 

have already observed why I consider Mr. Griffiths to have been a particularly 

compelling witness). 

 

93.3 The written statements filed in support of the Application ostensibly might have 

suggested more widespread user than was spoken to in the oral evidence.   

 

93.4 However:- 

a) There is always a need for caution in the approach to untested evidence. 

b) There is a particular need for caution when such untested written evidence 

does not appear reflective of the oral evidence, especially from those 

speaking in support of the Application. 
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c) I think the Objector is right when it says that this is not a case to depart from 

that starting point of a need for caution:- 

 

i. The written statements are generally non specific in the matters they 

address.  Thus, whilst a range of sporting activities is listed as being 

seen on the Land as well as wider user particularly by children, it is 

difficult to differentiate such observations from the fact that it is 

easily referable to user both formal and informal user by the School 

at material times or indeed the more formal sports teams.   

ii. The generality of the statements also extends to a lack of detail as to 

the intensity and frequency of any local inhabitant user and indeed 

on some occasions a lack of any evidence as to periods in which the 

statement provider a) had lived in the locality and/or b) used or seen 

others using the Land. As the Objector notes it is ambiguous in some 

statements whether the user is referring to the Land or the Police 

Fields: see, for example, the statements of Eluned Moran and 

Elizabeth Alder.   

iii. Whereas Mr. Coe has urged me to consider that the statements can 

properly be amplified to take account that witnesses will often have 

been speaking on the part of wider households, I do not consider 

that the quality of the written evidence is such that I can find it is 

supportive of user save to the extent that it is consistent with the 

oral evidence I have heard.   

iv. I bear in mind more generally that there is a particular risk of 

memory being distorted not only by the fact of a village green 

application and a desire to keep land as open space, but also that in 

this case it may have been that wider user of the Land was made 

beyond 2011 when the School closed and thus memories are 

distorted by more recent stronger evidence of user outside of the 20 

year period.   

v. In this latter respect, there is force in the Objector’s submission that 

there is a paucity of photographic evidence of community user or 

events beyond in much more recent times.  Such evidence is a typical 

hall mark of community user and it is generally absent in this case.  
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Witnesses such as Roger Milton speak to a wider history of events 

but there is limited detail and there was limited oral evidence to the 

Inquiry as regards such events; I can well accept that  there is likely to 

have been events over the years on the Land but without detail, it is 

difficult again for me to find that such events would unambiguously 

have been non-School related or unconnected with permissive user.   

 

93.5 I therefore regard the evidence as to more general informal recreational user to 

be relatively limited and further that what user there has been observed may 

have been ambiguous to the reasonable land owner as to whether it was an 

extension of any permitted user of the Land (e.g. pupils of the School on the Land 

after hours or members of permitted sports clubs partaking in games or indeed 

more general training exercises).   

 

93.6 There is then the evidence referable to sports team user as amplified upon by 

Mr. Webb and Mr. Brazier in particular in their evidence.  

 

a) I find that the substantial balance of sports team user was by permission.  I 

accept the evidence of the Objector in this respect.  

b) The witness evidence was supported by the contemporaneous evidence from 

2011 and I do not think the balance of evidence points any other way than to 

a finding that the School had expressly permitted user by virtue of generally 

informal agreements with the local sports clubs.  

c) I do not regard the challenge to the grant of informal permission by those 

with obvious ostensible authority to grant it as having any merit:- 

i. Mr. Coe had sought to question the status of the head teacher’s 

termination of arrangements in 2011. I agree with the Objector that 

the status of such termination cannot be determinative of the 

prevailing basis of user from 1994 to 2011 (i.e. in the preceding 17 

years). 

ii. Mr. Llewellyn Morgan in a supplemental closing submission had 

suggested a wider challenge could be raised namely that there was a 

lack of evidence  as to whether or not the grant of permission 

informally by the teachers was under a properly delegated authority 
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provided by the Trustees to the School (in a closing submission dated 

28th February 2022).  I also reject that submission.  It was not a point 

canvassed in advance of the Inquiry and the Objector has been 

deprived of presenting its case so as to address as necessary any 

further evidence to it.  However, I agree with the Objector that the 

proper analysis is that those giving permission on behalf of the 

School had ostensible authority to do so as agents.   

iii. In my  view, the balance of evidence is clear on any objective analysis 

that the relationship was permissive.   

iv. Even if there was a failure of any required formality required on the 

part of the Trust, I would not regard that as being transformative of 

user from permissive to as of right.  The plain analysis is that both the 

School and the sports clubs considered that user was permissive, and 

matters would have appeared to the reasonable landowner to have 

been permissive user. 

v. Furthermore, the burden is on the Applicant and I am not satisfied 

that it has demonstrated that such user was “as of right” and not by 

permission, taking into account the evidence presented to the 

Inquiry, and I reject this late challenge in its entirety.   

d) For the avoidance of doubt, I make clear at this stage that even if the sports 

team user did not fall to be discounted that I would still not regard overall 

local inhabitant user as sufficient for registration given (i) the extent of 

School user and (ii) the lack of cogent evidence that sports teams who played 

on the Land invariably comprised players who came from the locality. 

 

93.7 The last category of user is that of walking with and without dogs.   

 

a) There was relatively consistent evidence that much walking and dog walking 

was either perimeter/edge walking or as part of a cut through/thoroughfare 

into and from the Town Centre.   

i. That was the evidence of those who spoke to the Inquiry including 

Julia Evans and Mr. Webb for the Applicant as well as those who gave 

evidence for the Objector including Michael Walsh and the sports 

teachers.    
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ii. It was also consistent with many observations in the written evidence 

filed on behalf of the Application including that provided by Matthew 

and Rachel Coe (as set out earlier in the Report), Helen and Timothy 

May, and others including Eluned Moran.   

iii. It was further consistent with the fact that I formed the clear 

impression that local residents respected the fact that this was an 

active sports field for team sports and would not generally let  dogs 

roam and potentially foul on the sports field (as perhaps distinct from 

the larger Police Fields).    

b) There was some evidence of more general recreational walking in the written 

statements but the references were ultimately trivial and sporadic and 

largely set out in untested witness evidence.   

c) I remind myself of the authorities and reach the firm conclusion that at best 

this was equivocal user which would have been ambiguous in nature to the 

reasonable landowner as to what type of right was being asserted; in such 

circumstances, the user properly falls to be attributed to the less onerous 

right and not TVG user.  The user for walking and walking with dogs falls to be 

discounted.  

d)  There are cases such as R (Allaway and Pollock) v Oxfordshire County Council 

[2016] EWHC 2677 (admin) where an Inspector has been found entitled to 

construe perimeter walking as part of TVG user but each cases turns on its 

own facts and in this case one crucial feature is that local inhabitants carried 

out perimeter walking where they were very often excluded from the 

majority of the inner field by virtue of School user and other formal sports.  In 

such circumstances, it is difficult indeed to attribute edge walking to the 

assertion of a wider TVG user.   

e) Again, I find in the alternative that the evidence of walking I have seen in the 

written evidence as amplified in the oral evidence, would again not be 

sufficient to lead me to a conclusion that the threshold for registration has 

been met even if not discounted.    

 

94. In my above analysis, I have looked at the evidence as it colours the constituent 

elements of the statutory test.  
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95. I have assessed the evidence and its consequences in terms of what can be regarded 

as qualifying user.  

 

96. The non-qualifying user I have set out above must be discounted.   

 

97. I am satisfied that the undiscounted qualifying user falls markedly below the amount 

and manner of user which is reasonably required for the assertion of a public right 

especially in a larger locality such as that named in the Application.   

 

98. This is because the residual user is  no more than trivial and sporadic when viewed in 

the context of large periods of effective interruption and exclusion, rather than that 

which would indicate to a landowner that recreational rights were being asserted over 

the Land.  

 

99. I am therefore satisfied that the Applicant has not demonstrated that there has been 

user “as of right” by a significant number of local inhabitants of the locality in the 

twenty year period. 

 

100. I am satisfied that this would be the case even if evidence as to user by sports teams 

and/or by walkers/dog walkers properly fell to be taken into account.   

 

101. This is because the user of by the School was such as to exclude and interrupt user of 

most of the Land for long periods for 5 to 6 days each week during the School term 

(effectively over 9 months of the year for 17 out of the 20 years).   

 

102. This has further ramifications as it is unlikely that I would have found that that 

statutory test had been made out even if there had been a greater turn out of 

witnesses on behalf of the Applicant at the Inquiry (or indeed if the Application had 

been heard sooner in time) or if I had concluded that any such user was not 

permissive.   

 

103. The extensive School user of the Land always provided a formidable hurdle to the 

Application 
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104. I have not had the need to descend into an analysis of the relevance of prevailing 

statutory provisions referable to education  (as cited in the Objector’s outline 

submission but not pressed upon me as robustly in its closing submissions) and the 

potential that some of the activities were not qualifying LSP. 

 

105. For the avoidance of doubt even if I applied a benevolent approach to the Applicant 

such as to activities as picnicking referable to sports game spectating or to activities 

which the Objector may argue would amount to a nuisance (such as recreational 

drinkers gathering on the Land), on such matters I would not be satisfied that the 

statutory test was made out.   

 

106. Ultimately I find that the Application falls fairly markedly short of the relevant 

threshold and this is an Application which I recommend be dismissed.   

 

Conclusions & Recommendations 

107. My overall conclusion is the Application must fail because a significant number of local 

inhabitants have not indulged in lawful sports and pastimes during the relevant 20 

year period and most claimed user in any event was not “as of right” but, on the 

contrary, by permission. 

 

108. I recommend to the Registration Authority accordingly that the Application be 

dismissed and the reasons for the dismissal be stated to be those set out in this 

Report.   

 

109. For the avoidance of doubt, I make clear that I would not have been satisfied that 

there was sufficient claimed user of any smaller part of the Land and if a submission 

had been made that the Registration Authority ought to consider registration of part 

of the Land only in the alternative, I would have rejected it for among others that 

reason.   

 

JAMES MARWICK 

St John’s Chambers 

James.marwick@stjohnschambers.co.uk 

18th May 2022 
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